RECEIVED

Mar 16 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000044
Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2020-CP-10-02726

OLIVIA M. THOMPSON, PH.D., M.P.H.,

Appellant,

v.

COLLEGE OF CHARLESTON; COLLEGE OF CHARLESTON FOUNDATION, INC.;
FRANCES C. WELCH, PH.D., M.A.; GODFREY A. GIBBISON, PH.D., M.S.; AND
CHRISTOPHER R. TOBIN,

Defendants,

v.

Of whom COLLEGE OF CHARLESTON AND FRANCES C. WELCH, PH.D., M.A.
are Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Daniel F. Blanchard, III (SC Bar 65342)
ROSEN HAGOOD, LLC
151 Meeting Street, Suite 400

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion by holding that a prior Form 4 Order of the Circuit Court had previously decided the matters raised in Appellant's current motions for a preliminary injunction and thus barred those motions?

II. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion by denying Appellant's motions for preliminary injunction when the facts and evidence demonstrate that Appellant will suffer irreparable harm if a preliminary injunction is not granted, Appellant is likely to succeed on the merits of her claims, and Appellant does not have an adequate remedy at law?

III. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion by basing its Orders on purported facts that are unsupported by testimony or evidence in the record and which are contrary to the actual evidence in the record?

INTRODUCTION

Appellant Olivia M. Thompson, Ph.D., M.P.H. (“Appellant”) is a tenured professor at the Respondent College of Charleston (“CofC”). On July 17, 2014, due to serious retaliation and harassment that Appellant had been enduring from her department Dean, Frances C. Welch, Ph.D., M.A. (“Dr. Welch”), the CofC and Appellant entered a written contract to diffuse and resolve the situation and to eliminate further conflicts between Appellant and Dr. Welch. This contract expressly requires that Appellant be moved to another department, which was not under Dr. Welch’s supervision. The contract further requires that Appellant’s tenure-track faculty line, faculty office, and administrative location be moved to the CofC’s Joseph P. Riley, Jr. Center for Livable Communities (“Riley Center”) and that Appellant be under the supervision of Dr. Kendra Stewart.

Appellant and the CofC implemented this contract in 2014. Appellant was working under that agreement for several years without any problems or interference by Dr. Welch. However, in 2019, after the CofC elevated Dr. Welch to Interim Provost, Dr. Welch then unilaterally changed Appellant’s faculty assignment without Appellant’s consent and in breach of her contract. Dr. Welch unilaterally transferred Appellant back to the department under Dr. Welch’s supervision. Thereafter, Dr. Welch reinitiated a campaign of retaliation and harassment against Appellant in addition to directly interfering with and fatally undermining a grant program funded by the Boeing Company that Appellant was directing. The retaliation eventually caused Boeing to withdraw its funding for the program. The Boeing-funded work had paid a significant portion of Appellant’s salary. Boeing now refuses to enter grants with the CofC, which has caused substantial financial harm to Appellant and injury to her professional reputation and career.

Appellant filed this lawsuit on June 24, 2020, to enforce her rights under her contract with the CofC, to enjoin Dr. Welch from further retaliation and harassment against her, and to recover

monetary damages for Dr. Welch's interference with Appellant's Boeing-funded grant program. Notwithstanding the commencement of this lawsuit, the CofC and Dr. Welch continued to engage in retaliation against Appellant even while this litigation was ongoing and despite her counsel's repeated efforts to persuade the CofC to cease its actions until the merits of the case can be decided.

After this action was filed, the CofC and Dr. Welch have arbitrarily refused to consider Appellant for a vacant department chairperson position; unilaterally relocated Appellant's physical office away from the Riley Center to a completely different building located miles away that is in a deplorable condition, is in a state of disrepair, and is undergoing substantial construction and renovation work (including removal of asbestos ceiling tiles); unilaterally removed Appellant from her office building's website and directory without her permission; physically barred Appellant from having access to her office and had security officers physically escort her from the building when she tried to access the interior of her office; and failed to notify Appellant of and refused to consider her for a merit raise offered to other faculty members.

As a result, Appellant had no choice but to file a Motion for Preliminary Injunction in the Circuit Court on April 2, 2021. When the CofC and Dr. Welch continued to retaliate against Appellant even after this motion was filed, Appellant then had to file a Supplemental Motion for Preliminary Injunction on July 9, 2021. The purpose of the motions was to obtain an order preliminarily enjoining the CofC and Dr. Welch from breaching the terms of Appellant's contract, to stop the constant retaliation against Appellant while this litigation is pending, and to maintain or restore the status quo that existed before the events addressed in the motions had occurred.

The Circuit Court denied Appellant's motions, thereby allowing the CofC and Dr. Welch to continue their unlawful actions against Appellant unabated. For the reasons discussed herein,

Appellant respectfully submits the Circuit Court's Orders are based on erroneous findings of fact, are contrary to state law, and should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Events Leading to Commencement of this Action.

Continuously since August 2011, Appellant has been employed full-time by the CofC as a faculty member, and currently is a tenured Associate Professor. See Verif. Compl. ¶11; Mot. 4.2.21 p.3. Prior to August 16, 2014, Appellant's faculty appointment was in the CofC's School of Education, Health, and Human Performance ("EHHP"), which placed her under the direction and supervision of Dr. Welch, as the Dean of EHHP. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.3; Verif. Compl. ¶14.

On or about July 22, 2013, Appellant learned that Dr. Welch was engaging in unlawful and improper actions to interfere with, undermine, and subvert Appellant's Boeing-funded work. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.3; Verif. Compl. ¶14-15. Dr. Welch also inappropriately inserted herself into Appellant's tenure and promotion process. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.3-4; Verif. Compl. ¶16. Dr. Welch surreptitiously met with then-President Glenn McConnell in his office at the CofC in what proved to be an unsuccessful last-minute attempt to persuade President McConnell not to award tenure and promotion to Appellant. Id. Dr. Welch made false, misleading, and disparaging claims about Appellant in the attempt to ensure her denial of tenure and termination from the CofC. Id. Dr. Welch also attempted to terminate Appellant during the course of her third-year review conducted during the CofC's 2013-2014 academic year and to reassign Appellant's Boeing grants to other faculty in the Department of Teacher Education in EHHP. Id. p.4.

Because Appellant brought Dr. Welch's retaliation and interference to the attention of CofC's leadership, the CofC, Appellant, and Dr. Welch executed a written agreement to rectify and resolve the issues and to eliminate any further conflicts between Appellant and Dr. Welch. See Verif. Mot.

4.2.21 p.5; Verif. Compl. ¶20. This contract is labeled a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”), which the CofC’s official policies define as a contract.¹ See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.5; MOU 7.17.14. The MOU is dated July 17, 2014, and was explicitly “agree[d] to” and signed by Appellant on July 23, 2014; by President McConnell on July 21, 2014; by Dr. George Hynd (the CofC’s Provost); by Dr. Jerry Hale (Dean of the CofC’s School of Humanities and Social Sciences or “HSS”); and by Dr. Welch (Dean of the EHHP). Id. The CofC’s highest ranking officials all signed the MOU. The MOU was expressly stated to be effective August 16, 2014. Id.

Under the MOU’s express terms, the CofC “agreed to” take certain detailed actions involving Appellant and her faculty appointment, including the following:

- To transfer and move Appellant from the CofC’s EHHP and place her into the CofC’s HSS, which removed Appellant from under Dr. Welch’s supervision and placed her under the supervision of Dr. Hale.
- To move Appellant’s tenure-track faculty line, faculty office, and administrative location to the CofC’s Riley Center at 176 Lockwood Boulevard, Charleston.
- To have Appellant report directly to Dr. Kendra Stewart “who will serve in the functional role as [Appellant’s] department chair” and who will be responsible for “conducting [Appellant’s] annual evaluations.”
- “All policies and procedures relative to [Appellant’s] tenure and promotion (as outlined in [the CofC’s Faculty Administration Manual or “FAM”] and appropriate official communications) will need to be followed.”

See MOU 7.17.14 pp.1-2.

The MOU’s purpose was to relieve Appellant of any further accountability to Dr. Welch, to remove Dr. Welch from having any supervision or authority over Appellant or her tenure-track, and

¹ The CofC’s Policy Website, which includes the CofC’s Faculty Administration Manual (“FAM”), specifically addresses the nature and extent of the CofC’s “contracting authority ... and how it may be exercised.” See CofC Off. Policy 2.3.1.1. This official policy explicitly states that “[t]he term ‘Contract’ means all types of agreements (regardless of content or what they may be called) where

to preclude Dr. Welch from retaliating against Appellant and interfering with her Boeing-funded grant work. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.7; Verif. Compl. ¶23. Appellant was removed from Dr. Welch's report so she could effectively administer her grants without interference from Dr. Welch and so she could secure additional grant funding from Boeing and others for the benefit of the CofC as well as Appellant. Id.

In accordance with the MOU, the CofC transferred Appellant from EHHP and placed her in HSS effective on August 16, 2014. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.7; Verif. Compl. ¶26-27. Appellant reported directly to Dr. Stewart, who served as her Department Chair, and Appellant's tenure-track faculty line, faculty office, and grant-related offices were moved to and administratively housed in the Riley Center, which is within the CofC's HSS, not the EHHP. Id.; see Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.7. Appellant, along with five other full-time faculty members, taught health designated courses for either the B.A. or B.S. degree in public health. Id.

For several years thereafter, Appellant thrived and worked under the MOU without any problems or issues. Appellant applied for and secured more than \$2 million in grant funds from Boeing that provided direct financial or economic benefits to both the CofC and Appellant personally. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.3; Verif. Compl. ¶12. On March 15, 2017, President McConnell awarded Appellant tenure and promotion to the rank of Associate Professor within the Riley Center effective August 16, 2017. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.3.

On August 28, 2018, based on Appellant's application, Boeing agreed to make a \$250,000 grant for a project to be conducted by Appellant at the CofC entitled "Veterans Fellowship Program in Sustainable Food Systems" ("SFS Program"). See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.8-9; Verif. Compl. ¶28. As

there is a mutual exchange of promises or undertakings" and "[c]ontracts may include, but are not limited to: ... *Memoranda of Understanding or Memoranda of Agreement* ..." Id. (emphasis added).

part of this program, the CofC agreed to develop and implement both a professional development (continuing education) certificate program and an academic credit certificate program in Sustainable Food Systems to be administratively housed within the CofC's School of Professional Studies ("SPS"), even though Appellant's academic home would remain in HSS. Id. The grant was a tremendous benefit to both Appellant and the CofC. The mutual goal, plan, and expectation of Appellant, the CofC, and Boeing was that the SFS Program would continue for many years after the first two pilot years of the program had ended and would continue to pay for and/or fund 25% of Appellant's annual salary and benefits in those future years. See Verif. Compl. ¶35.

The situation, however, quickly deteriorated when Dr. Brian McGee (the CofC's Provost after Dr. Hynd) resigned and Dr. Andrew Hsu (the CofC's newly appointed President) appointed Dr. Welch as Interim Provost and Executive Vice President for Academic Affairs effective May 16, 2019. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.10; Verif. Compl. ¶36-41. Shortly thereafter, on August 29, 2019, despite Appellant's MOU and without prior consultation with Appellant or her consent, Dr. Welch unilaterally transferred Appellant from HSS back to EHHP and into EHHP's Department of Health and Human Performance ("HEHP"), which action removed Appellant from Dr. Stewart's report and again placed her under Dr. Welch's supervision, who, as announced by the CofC, would be resuming the position of Dean of EHHP effective on July 1, 2020. Id. Dr. Welch's unilateral transfer of Appellant in breach of the MOU set the stage for her to again retaliate against Appellant and to interfere with not only Appellant's Boeing-funded work and the SFS Program, but also her instructional work, promotion, and tenure-track at the CofC. Id.

As Appellant feared, Dr. Welch and the CofC did again retaliate against her and take actions to interfere with and undermine her Boeing-funded SFS Program. As detailed in Appellant's verified pleadings, these actions include:

- Behind Appellant's back, Dr. Welch and others at the CofC began disparaging Appellant and her work to Boeing's employees, with the goal of inducing Boeing to remove Appellant as the Principal Investigator of the SFS Program. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.15-16; Verif. Compl. ¶53-55, 131.
- Dr. Welch, in collaboration with others at the CofC, directed the removal of the SFS Program's in-person academic-credit and continuing education courses from the CofC's course system and the SPS's online registration page. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.15; Verif. Compl. ¶52. These actions effectively canceled both the academic and continuing education courses of the SFS Program for the 2020 spring semester. They detrimentally impacted enrollment in the SFS Program and interfered with its administration. Id.
- Dr. Welch met with Boeing's employees on December 13, 2019, to disparage Appellant and the SFS Program to Boeing. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.15; Verif. Compl. ¶53-55, 62. Appellant was not notified of or invited to take part in the meeting even though she is the SFS Program's Principal Investigator. Id. Dr. Welch gave false information to Boeing regarding the reasons that enrollment in the professional development track of the SFS Program had not hit its target. Id. p.15-16. Dr. Welch also falsely represented to Boeing that the curriculum for the professional development certificate that is a part of the SFS Program was never presented to the CofC's Faculty Senate for approval, and consequently was not as popular an option since it was not accredited. Id. p.16-17.
- Without Appellant's knowledge, Dr. Welch authorized or directed the CofC to submit a progress report to Boeing containing false and distorted information about the SFS Program with the clear purpose of impugning Appellant and her work in Boeing's eyes. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.15-16; Verif. Compl. ¶62.
- On December 18, 2019, at Dr. Welch's direction or with her involvement, the CofC sent an e-mail to CofC staff (while excluding Appellant) informing them that Dr. Welch had unilaterally decided to delay the 2020 spring semester SFS Program courses to 2020 spring semester Express II. Appellant was not consulted regarding this decision. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.16; Verif. Compl. ¶56.
- At Dr. Welch's direction or with her involvement and without Appellant's knowledge or approval, the CofC directed staff to notify students in late December of 2019 that the SFS Program would change from a 14-week program to a 7-week program. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.16-17; Verif. Compl. ¶57-60. The 14-week program was supposed to commence only weeks later on January 8, 2020, but the CofC notified students on December 19, 2019 that the classes would not begin until the second half of the semester, which caused great confusion among students who were planning to enroll or were interested in enrolling. Id. Appellant was not consulted about this change and did not approve it. Appellant was excluded on the CofC's e-mail communicating the change to students, even though it substantially

impacted the SFS Program of which she is the Principal Investigator. Id. These changes effectively canceled the SFS Program without any consultation with or approval of Appellant. Id.

- By cancelling the programming for the SFS Program for the first seven weeks of the 2020 spring semester and allowing it to run only during the second seven weeks, it made it impossible to teach farming and food processing courses in such a shortened period of time because of the nature of those courses, which cannot be taught in seven weeks. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.17; Verif. Compl. ¶59. The cancellation interfered with Appellant's administration of the SFS Program as well as the contractual commitments the CofC had made to Boeing under the grant contract and which the CofC had made to two area non-profit organizations that were serving as SFS Program partners. Id.
- Under its grant contract with Boeing, the CofC had agreed to develop and implement an academic credit certificate program which it would administratively house within the SPS. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.18; Verif. Compl. ¶63-68. To comply with this obligation, the CofC had to either have faculty who were qualified to teach the courses in the SFS Program or it must join a cooperative or consortium through which it could offer the courses. Id. The CofC did not have the ability to teach the courses through its own faculty, thus Appellant secured the CofC's membership in AgIDEA, which is a consortium of universities who house faculty offering agriculture/food systems courses. Id. p.19. However, Dr. Welch refused to execute the paperwork for the CofC to enter the consortium even though Appellant submitted it to her. Dr. Welch's actions prevented the CofC from offering academic credit courses in agriculture/food systems and prevented Appellant from being able to submit a program proposal to the CofC's Faculty Senate for approval. Id. p.19-20.
- Dr. Welch and others at the CofC actively thwarted Appellant's efforts to locate another school or department within the CofC to serve as the SFS Program's academic or administrative home, thereby preventing the SFS Program from being housed in a viable school or department. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.20; Verif. Compl. ¶69.
- On or about February 28, 2020, the CofC, by and through Dr. Welch and other CofC employees, harassed two individuals who were teaching courses in the SFS Program by requiring them to be reclassified as temporary employees rather than as independent contractors, even though the individuals had previously worked as independent contractors and do not meet the criteria for classification as temporary employees. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.20-21; Verif. Compl. ¶71. Although the two individuals and Appellant opposed the reclassification, the CofC withheld and refused to issue paychecks to them for work performed unless they agreed to sign forms acknowledging their reclassification as temporary employees. Id.

In late 2019 and early 2020, Appellant repeatedly requested a meeting with the CofC's current President (Dr. Hsu) to demand that Dr. Welch's retaliation against her and Dr. Welch's interference with the SFS Program immediately stop. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.21; Verif. Compl. ¶72-74. Appellant specifically warned the CofC that Dr. Welch's conduct was jeopardizing Boeing's grant funding for the SFS Program as well as Boeing's relationship with Appellant and the CofC. Id. President Hsu refused to meet with Appellant. Id. The CofC took no steps to address the retaliation and interference that was occurring. Id. p.21-22.

On March 17, 2020, as Appellant feared and foretold, Boeing irrevocably withdrew its grant funding for the SFS Program. See Verif. Mot. 4.2.21 p.22-23; Verif. Compl. ¶70, 76-79, 82. Boeing terminated its grants with the CofC, thereby causing monetary harm, reputational harm, loss of professional prestige and standing, and other damages to Appellant. Id. Boeing will not enter into future grants with the CofC. Id. Appellant maintains Boeing's decision was the result of Dr. Welch's and the CofC's interference with her Boeing-funded work.

B. Commencement of this Action on June 24, 2020.

On June 24, 2020, by verified Complaint, Appellant commenced this lawsuit against the Respondents. See Verif. Compl. 6.24.20. The Verified Complaint alleges the following claims:

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