RECEIVED

Jun 15 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit

The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000044
Court of Common Pleas No. 2020-CP-10-02726

Olivia M. Thompson, Ph.D., M.P.H.Appellant,

v.

College of Charleston; College of Charleston Foundation, Inc.;
Frances C. Welch, Ph.D., M.A.; Godfrey A Gibbison, Ph.D., M.S.;
and Christopher R. Tobin..... Defendants

Of whom College of Charleston and Frances C. Welch, Ph.D.,
M.A. are the Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Randell C. Stoney, Jr., Esq. (S.C. #5375)

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

as asking it to 'second-guess' or 'overturn' Judge Hall's prior Order." (See Br. of Appellant, at 23). For the reasons that follow, Judge Young's reasoning was sound and correct.

1. Judge Young Correctly Held That the Denial of Dr. Thompson's First Motion Foreclosed Her Subsequent Requests for Preliminary Injunctive Relief

"There is a long standing rule in this State that one judge of the same court cannot overrule another." *Sellers v. Nicholls*, 432 S.C. 101, 114, 851 S.E.2d 54, 60 (Ct. App. 2020) (quoting *Charleston Cty. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Father (in the Interest of Two Minors)*, 317 S.C. 283, 288, 454 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1995) ("[A] successor judge may not substitute his own judgment for that of the trial judge."); accord *Dorchester Cty. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Miller*, 324 S.C. 445, 457, 477 S.E.2d 476, 483 (Ct. App. 1996) (same); *Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher*, 287 S.C. 602, 604, 340 S.E.2d 546, 547 (1986) ("One Circuit Court Judge does not have the authority to set aside the order of another."). Under this rule, Judge Young properly exercised his discretion and concluded that he should not second-guess Judge Hall's First Order, which denied Dr. Thompson's First Motion for a preliminary injunction.

The Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion were really just extensions of Dr. Thompson's First Motion. Much like her First Motion, the Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion are built upon the premise that Respondents engaged in conduct that violated the terms of her MOU with CofC. This is merely a continuation of the contentions that Dr. Thompson previously made — and Judge Hall rejected — in her First Motion. For example, Dr. Thompson's April 2, 2021 Second Motion states that "notwithstanding the pendency of this lawsuit, Defendants *have continued* to breach, contravene, and disregard the clear terms and provisions of the written MOU." (See R. p. 111 (emphasis added)). She further claims that Respondents "*continued* to retaliate against, harass, and cause financial harm to Plaintiff while this litigation has been ongoing." (See R. pp. 11-12 (emphasis added)). In fact, Dr. Thompson's April 2, 2021 Second Motion dedicates *almost 25 pages* (of a total length of 33 pages) to cataloging Respondents' alleged misconduct that occurred *prior to the commencement of this lawsuit (and before the First Order)*.

Similarly, Dr. Thompson's Supplement to Second Motion states that "notwithstanding the pendency of this action *and the filing of Plaintiff's previous Motion for Preliminary Injunction, Defendant CofC has continued* to engage in retaliatory conduct, harassment, and intimidation towards Plaintiff." (See R. p. 219 (emphasis added); accord R. p. 223 ("Defendant CofC *has continued* to engage in harassment, retaliation, and intimidation against Plaintiff.") (emphasis added)). She further argues in the Supplement to Second Motion that "Plaintiff's verified Complaint seeks an order enforcing the terms and provisions of the written *MOU*. The verified Complaint also specifically seeks to restrain and enjoin Defendant CofC and others from *breaching, contravening, or disregarding the MOU's terms and provisions.*" (See R. p. 220 (emphasis added)). The remainder of the Supplement to Second Motion is dedicated to assertions that CofC wrongfully removed Dr. Thompson from the Riley Center. Likewise, Dr. Thompson's Affidavit offered in support of her Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion states that "[t]he primary purpose of the motions has been to obtain an Order" restraining CofC "from breaching the terms of a written contract [the MOU]" and to stop alleged retaliation. (See R. p. 236 ¶ 2).

In other words, Dr. Thompson's Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion focused on the same allegations of breaches of the MOU, albeit with some different allegations with regard to specific conduct. The Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion were extensions of the same arguments underlying Dr. Thompson's First Motion — with the same legal and factual underpinnings (*i.e.*, alleged conduct in violation of the MOU). In particular, Dr. Thompson contends that CofC violated her rights by breaching the MOU. She has not presented any evidence or cited to any authority supporting that her current arguments about CofC's *continuation* of its alleged prior breaches of the MOU would somehow take the Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion outside of the scope of the First Order. Dr. Thompson has not set forth any reason why Judge Young erred in deferring to Judge Hall's prior denial of injunctive relief.

The specific relief Dr. Thompson requested in her First Motion and Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion is set forth at length, *supra*. While Dr. Thompson changes the

wording somewhat, she seeks essentially the same relief in her Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion that she sought in her First Motion. The primary relief sought in both motions is an injunction precluding CofC from breaching the MOU or changing Dr. Thompson's location or assignment. However, Judge Hall already denied her request for a preliminary injunction "[a]fter careful consideration."

Dr. Thompson argues that the trial court should have disregarded Judge Hall's First Order because he did not receive memoranda and did not conduct a hearing. However, Dr. Thompson never filed a motion for reconsideration, a motion to alter or amend or any other motion asking Judge Hall to revisit his First Order. As a result, the trial court properly respected Judge Hall's First Order denying Dr. Thompson's initial request for preliminary injunctive relief.

In support of her argument that Judge Young erred in deferring to the First Order, Dr. Thompson argues that the Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion focused on the following conduct occurring after she filed this lawsuit and after Judge Hall's August 13, 2020 First Order (*i.e.*, conduct allegedly occurring between December, 2020 and July, 2021):

- the CofC's disconnection of Appellant's office telephone in December 2020 and her removal from the Riley Center website and building directory without her knowledge or permission
- Dr. Welch's arbitrary refusal in February 2021 to consider Appellant's application for the HEHP Chairperson position vacated by Dr. Wes Dudgeon
- Dr. Welch's complete removal of Appellant's faculty office from the Riley Center and Dr. Welch's relocation of Appellant's office to the Silcox Building in March 2021
- the CofC's actions in physically removing Appellant from the Riley Center in April 2021 and barring her access to her faculty office and personal property in that building, and
- the CofC's actions in July 2021 in excluding Appellant from the opportunity to obtain a faculty merit pay raise while other faculty members were offered this opportunity.

(See R. pp. 110-42). These points can be boiled down to three separate items: (a) displacement of Dr. Thompson from the Riley Center; (b) the refusal to consider Dr. Thompson for the HEHP chair position; and (c) excluding Dr. Thompson from consideration for a merit pay raise. Dr. Thompson argues that her reliance on these allegations of this conduct occurring after commencement of the lawsuit protects her from the preclusive effect of the First Order. However, upon closer analysis, it is apparent that Dr. Thompson's alleged "new" conduct did not prevent Judge Young from deferring to Judge Hall's First Order.

Dr. Thompson first argues that her Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion alleges "new" conduct, consisting of allegations that Respondents disconnected her Riley Center phone and took her off the Riley Center website, completely removed Dr. Thompson's office from the Riley Center, and "physically remov[ed] Plaintiff from the Riley Center in April 2021 and barr[ed] her access to her faculty office and personal property in that building." This is the same sort of conduct for which the trial court refused to grant an injunction in Judge Hall's First order. For example, Dr. Thompson's Complaint alleges that, under the MOU, her offices were to move to the Riley Center. (See R. p. 30 ¶ 25). She further asserted in her First Motion that "MOU specifically mandate[s] that . . . Plaintiff's tenure-track faculty line, office, and any grant-related offices are to be *moved from EHHP to the Riley Center*, where they would be administratively housed or located." (See R. p. 78 (emphasis added)). She further alleges that her offices were moved from EHHP to the Riley Center consistent with the MOU. (See *id.*). She expressly requested a preliminary injunction "restraining and enjoining Defendants CofC and Welch from unilaterally transferring or *moving Plaintiff back to the CofC's EHHP.*" (See R. p. 74 (emphasis added)). Thus, the First Motion sought — and Judge Hall denied — an injunction preventing Respondents from removing her from Riley Center. This is the same relief requested in the Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion. Although the later motions contain certain additional factual allegations, they still requested the same relief — an injunction precluding Respondents from removing Dr. Thompson from her assignment at Riley Center.

Dr. Thompson next argues that her Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion raised novel issues because she asserted that — after the First Order — CofC did not properly notify her a department chair opening (February, 2021) and excluded her from opportunities to obtain a merit pay raise (July, 2021). (*See R.* pp. 111-12). As discussed below, Dr. Thompson cannot show irreparable harm in connection with this request for injunctive relief. Furthermore, Dr. Thompson did not amend her Complaint to allege a claim concerning such alleged conduct.

Dr. Thompson finally argues that her Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion raised new conduct concerning her alleged exclusion from consideration for a merit pay raise. Once again, as discussed below, this putative ground for a preliminary injunction — if Judge Hall's First Order does not foreclose it — is without merit because Dr. Thompson cannot show irreparable harm or a likelihood of success on the merits.

For the foregoing reasons, Judge Young correctly denied Dr. Thompson's Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion, in light of Judge Hall's First Order.

2. The Cases That Dr. Thompson Cites Are Inapposite

In her Brief of Appellant, Dr. Thompson argues that the trial court's denial of her First Motion did not prevent her from asking the trial court for injunctive relief a second time:

Our law accords with the law in other jurisdictions. Numerous state and federal courts have held that "a preliminary injunction proceeding does not fully and finally adjudicate the parties' rights, and the principles of res judicata and collateral estoppel are inapplicable to any findings made by the court during those proceedings." *Pittsburgh Logistics Sys., Inc. v. LaserShip, Inc.*, No. 2:18-CY-1382, 2019 WL 2443035, at *4 (W.D. Pa. June 12, 2019) (*quoting Porter v. Chevron Appalachia, LLC*, 204 A.3d 411, 419 n.2 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2019)): see also *Coinmach Corp. v. Fordham Hill Owners Corp.*, 770 N.Y.S.2d 310, 312 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2004) ("It is settled law that the grant or denial of a request for a preliminary injunction, a provisional remedy designed for the narrow purpose of maintaining the status quo. is not an adjudication on the merits and will not be given res judicata effect."): *Gessler v. Madigan*, 322 N.E.2d 127, 129 (Ohio Ct. App. 1974) ("The granting or denial of a preliminary injunction does not amount to an adjudication of the ultimate rights in controversy. is not conclusive on the court on a subsequent hearing. and concludes no rights of the parties."); *Softchoice Corp. v. MacKenzie*, 636 F. Supp. 2d 927, 936 (D. Neb. 2009) ("[T]he doctrine of collateral estoppel requires a prior final judgment: the granting or denial of a preliminary injunction is generally not based on a final decision on the merits and is not a final judgment for the purposes

of collateral estoppel."); *People of Colo. ex rel. Watrous v. Dist. Ct. of U.S. for Dist. of Colo.*, 207 F.2d 50, 58 (10th Cir. 1953) ("The denial of the preliminary injunction was not an adjudication of the ultimate rights in controversy. It will not be conclusive on the court or the rights of the plaintiffs at a subsequent hearing.").

(See Appellant's Br. at 27-28). However, these cases are inapposite. The trial court did not prevent — and is not preventing — Dr. Thompson from litigating the merits of any substantive factual or legal issues addressed in Judge Hall's order. Respondents are not arguing that Judge Hall's order has final preclusive effect on the merits with regard to any final remedies that may be available to Dr. Thompson. Rather, Judge Young merely respected a prior judge's decision that this case does not call for the extraordinary remedy of preliminary, interim injunctive relief to maintain the *status quo* during litigation. The cases that Dr. Thompson cites do not warrant a trial court revisiting a denied request for a *preliminary* injunction.

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm Judge Young's denial of preliminary injunctive relief.

3. Dr. Thompson's Reliance on Rule 54(b) Is Misplaced.

Dr. Thompson further argues that, even if Judge Hall's First Injunction Order addressed the issues raised in the Second Motion and Supplement to Second Motion, the Court may ignore or change that Order under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b):

When more than one claim for relief is presented in an action, whether as a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, or when multiple parties are involved, the court may direct the entry of a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all of the claims or parties only upon an express determination that there is no just reason for delay and upon an express direction for the entry of judgment. In the absence of such determination and direction, any order or other form of decision, however designated, which adjudicates fewer than all the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties shall not terminate the action as to any of the claims or parties, and the order or other form of decision is subject to revision at any time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights and liabilities of all the parties.

See S.C.R. Civ. P. 54(b) (emphasis added). For the following reasons, Rule 54(b) does not provide a proper basis for this Court to reverse Judge Young's denial of a Dr. Thompson's second request for a preliminary injunction.

Initially, Rule 54(b) does not apply here, because the Judge Hall's First Order was not an order adjudicating "the claims or the rights and liabilities" of any parties. It is not a final decision as to any specific cause of action. It does not dismiss claims against any of the Defendants. Rather, it is an order concerning an interim *remedy* of a party. Appellant Dr. Thompson has not cited to any authority supporting the use of Rule 54(b) to overturn one judge's prior denial of an injunction. *See Premier Health Care Servs. v. Schneiderman*, Appellate Case No. 18795, 2001 Ohio App. LEXIS 5170, at *11 (Ct. App. Aug. 21, 2001) ("A preliminary injunction is a remedy; it is not a cause of action or a claim for relief. Therefore, an order granting or denying a preliminary injunction is not subject to the requirements of Civ. R. 54(B).").

Moreover, applying the federal⁴ counterpart to Rule 54(b), the Fourth Circuit has noted that a court's ability to revise an order under Rule 54(b) is not without boundaries:

[T]he discretion Rule 54(b) provides is not limitless. For instance, courts have cabined revision pursuant to Rule 54(b) by treating interlocutory rulings as law of the case. [Citations omitted.] The law-of-the-case doctrine provides that in the interest of finality, "when a court decides upon a rule of law, that decision should continue to govern the same issues in subsequent stages in the same case." [Citations omitted.] Thus, a court may revise an interlocutory order under the same circumstances in which it may depart from the law of the case: (1) "a subsequent trial produc[ing] substantially different evidence"; (2) a change in applicable law; or (3) clear error causing "manifest injustice." [Citations omitted.] This standard closely resembles the standard applicable to motions to reconsider final orders pursuant to Rule 59(e), but it departs from such standard by accounting for potentially different evidence discovered during litigation as opposed to the discovery of "new evidence not available at trial."

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